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CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

1 

Plaintiff _____________ (“Plaintiff”), by and through his attorneys, alleges the following 

upon information and belief, except as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff, which are 

alleged upon personal knowledge. Plaintiff’s information and belief is based upon, among other 

things, his counsel’s investigation, which includes without limitation: (a) review and analysis of 

regulatory filings made by Health Insurance Innovations, Inc., (“HIIQ” or the “Company”), with 

the United States (“U.S.”) Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”); (b) review and 

analysis of press releases and media reports issued by and disseminated by HIIQ; and (c) review 

of other publicly available information concerning HIIQ. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION AND OVERVIEW 

1. This is a class action on behalf of persons and entities that acquired HIIQ’s 

securities between May 9, 2016, and September 11, 2017, inclusive (the “Class Period”), against 

the Defendants,
1
 seeking to pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 

“Exchange Act”). 

2. HIIQ is purportedly a developer, distributor, and cloud-based administrator of 

individual health and family insurance plans which include short-term medical insurance plans, 

and guaranteed-issue and underwritten hospital indemnity plans.  The Company also claims that 

it develops, distributes and administers supplemental products which includes a variety of 

additional insurance and non-insurance products such as pharmacy benefit cards, dental plans, 

vision plans, cancer/critical illness plans, deductible and gap protection plans, and life insurance 

policies. 

3. On September 11, 2017, a report was published on SeekingAlpha.com entitled 

“Health Insurance Innovations: Penalties To Exceed $100 Million And Undisclosed ‘Domino 

Effect.’”  Therein, the report stated that: (1) “HIIQ is currently facing a tidal wave of fraud 

investigations, lawsuits and cease-and-desist orders, which now already extend to at least 42 

states”; (2) “[m]ultiple new data points relating to multiple states have recently emerged” which 

“indicate that legal liability could be in excess of $100 million”; (3) “in June of 2017, HIIQ was 

                                                 

1
 “Defendants” refers to Health Insurance Innovations, Inc., Patrick. R. McNamee, Gavin D. 

Southwell, and Michael D. Hershberger, collectively. 
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rejected by the Florida state insurance regulator over its application for a license to conduct 

business as a 3
rd

 party administrator in Florida”; (4) the rejection was due in part to the fact that 

HIIQ insiders answered “no” to the question of whether they have been a party to any civil 

actions over the past 10 years involving dishonesty, breach of trust, etc., but that, the Florida 

regulator uncovered multiple such undisclosed legal actions against multiple HIIQ insiders; and 

(5) HIIQ “wrote a letter of appeal to the Florida regulator dated June 16, 2017” in which the 

Company warned that “a rejection in Florida would comprise a ‘reporting event’, obligating 

HIIQ to inform the other states in which it does business” which could “trigger a ‘domino effect’ 

which could result in its losing licenses in the other states where it does business.” 

4. On this news, the Company’s Class A common stock
2
 price fell $6.55 per share, 

or 21.9%, to close at $23.35 per share on September 11, 2017, on unusually heavy trading 

volume.  The stock price continued to decline after hours, falling approximately 18%, to 

approximately $19.10 per share. 

5. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants made materially false and/or misleading 

statements, as well as failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, 

operations, and prospects. specifically, defendants failed to disclose: (1) that the Company’s 

potential legal liability was much higher than the Company was reporting; (2) that the initial 

rejection of the Company’s licensing application in Florida was due, in part, to the Company’s 

failure to report legal actions involving Company insiders; (3) that a final rejection of the 

Company’s licensing application in Florida would be a “reporting event,” obligating HIIQ to 

inform other states in which it does business of the rejection; (4) that, as a result, the rejection 

would likely result in the Company losing licenses in the other states where it does business; and 

(5) that, as a result of the foregoing, Defendants’ statements about HIIQ’s business, operations, 

and prospects, were false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis. 

6. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous 

decline in the market value of the Company’s securities, Plaintiff and other Class members have 

                                                 

2
 Alternatively referred to herein as simply “common stock” or “stock.” 
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suffered significant losses and damages. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. The claims asserted herein arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange 

Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78t(a)) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17 

C.F.R. § 240.10b-5). 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa). 

9. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and 

Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa(c)).  Substantial acts in furtherance of the 

alleged fraud or the effects of the fraud have occurred in this Judicial District.  Many of the acts 

charged herein, including the dissemination of materially false and/or misleading information, 

occurred in substantial part in this Judicial District.  In addition, the Company’s principal 

executive offices are located in this Judicial District. 

10. In connection with the acts, transactions, and conduct alleged herein, Defendants 

directly and indirectly used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the 

United States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of a national securities 

exchange.  

PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff _____________, as set forth in the accompanying certification, 

incorporated by reference herein, purchased HIIQ securities during the Class Period, and 

suffered damages as a result of the federal securities law violations and false and/or misleading 

statements and/or material omissions alleged herein.  

12. Defendant Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. is incorporated in Florida and its 

headquarters are in Delray Beach, Florida.  HIIQ’s common stock trades on the NASDAQ Stock 

Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “HIIQ.” 

13. Defendant Patrick. R. McNamee (“McNamee”) was the Chief Executive officer 

(“CEO”) of HIIQ from prior to the beginning of the Class Period until November 15, 2016. 

14. Defendant Gavin D. Southwell (“Southwell”) was the CEO of HIIQ from 
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November 15, 2016 through the end of the Class Period. 

15. Defendant Michael D. Hershberger (“Hershberger”) was the Chief Financial 

Officer (“CFO”) of HIIQ at all relevant times. 

16. Defendants McNamee, Southwell, and Hershberger (collectively the “Individual 

Defendants”), because of their positions with the Company, possessed the power and authority to 

control the contents of HIIQ’s reports to the SEC, press releases and presentations to securities 

analysts, money and portfolio managers and institutional investors, i.e., the market.  The 

Individual Defendants were provided with copies of the Company’s reports and press releases 

alleged herein to be misleading prior to, or shortly after, their issuance and had the ability and 

opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected.  Because of their positions 

and access to material non-public information available to them, the Individual Defendants knew 

that the adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to, and were being concealed from, 

the public, and that the positive representations which were being made were then materially 

false and/or misleading.  The Individual Defendants are liable for the false statements pleaded 

herein.  

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

  

Background 

 

17. HIIQ is purportedly a developer, distributor, and cloud-based administrator of 

individual health and family insurance plans which include short-term medical insurance plans, 

and guaranteed-issue and underwritten hospital indemnity plans.  The Company also claims that 

it develops, distributes and administers supplemental products which includes a variety of 

additional insurance and non-insurance products such as pharmacy benefit cards, dental plans, 

vision plans, cancer/critical illness plans, deductible and gap protection plans, and life insurance 

policies. 

Materially False and Misleading 

Statements Issued During the Class Period 

 

18. The Class Period begins on May 9, 2016.  On that day, the Company issued a 

press release entitled “Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. Reports Record First Quarter 2016 
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Financial and Operating Results.”  Therein, the Company stated: 

Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. (HII) (NASDAQ:HIIQ), a leading developer, 

distributor, and virtual administrator of affordable health plans today announced 

financial results for the first quarter ended March 31, 2016.  The Company will 

host a live conference call on Tuesday, May 10, 2016 at 8:30 a.m. EDT. 

 

First Quarter 2016 Consolidated Financial Highlights 

 

 Record revenue was $42.5 million, an increase of 88.5% over $22.5 

million in the first quarter of 2015. 

 

 Record total collections from customers, which our industry refers to as 

premium equivalents, of $70.7 million, an increase of 84.8% over $38.3 

million in the first quarter of 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization) was $4.2 million, compared to $0.3 million in the first 

quarter of 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EPS, also referred to as Adjusted Net Income per Share, was 

$0.17 in the first quarter of 2016 compared to $0.01 in the first quarter of 

2015.  

 

 GAAP Net Income per diluted share for the first quarter of 2016 was 

$0.12, compared to $0.01 in the first quarter of 2015. 

 

 Record policies in force as of March 31, 2016, totaled approximately 

258,000, a 154% increase from 101,500 as of March 31, 2015. 

See the reconciliations for premium equivalents, adjusted EBITDA, and 

adjusted EPS within this press release. 

 

Revised 2016 Full Year Guidance 

 

For the full year 2016 we expect Revenue to grow between 30% and 40% year-

over-year ($138 million to $144 million) and Adjusted EPS to grow between 40% 

and 55% ($0.38 to $0.42). 

 

Previously we guided to Revenue of $130 million to $136 million and Adjusted 

EPS of $0.34 to $0.38. 

 

"We executed on our plan to accelerate sales during the Affordable Care Act open 

enrollment period while continuing to improve scalability.  We had record 

policies in force at the end of Q1 2016 - 258,000 policies, representing a 154% 

year-over-year increase.  During the quarter, we also set a new record for 

submitted policies - 192,000, representing a 236% year-over-year increase." said 

Patrick McNamee, HII's Chief Executive Officer and President. 
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"AgileHealthInsurance.com continued to see the strongest growth of all our 

channels in the first quarter.  During the quarter, Agile sold more than 23,000 

Short Term Medical policies, maintaining its number one rank among our 

distributors." said McNamee. 

 

First Quarter Financial Discussion 

 

First quarter revenues of $42.5 million increased by 88.5%, as compared to the 

first quarter of 2015, driven primarily by an increase in policies in force and 

continued strong sales in the first quarter, including January which was the last 

month of the ACA open enrollment period. 

 

Adjusted gross margin, which is calculated starting with revenues and then 

adjusted for third-party commissions, and credit card and ACH fees, decreased to 

22.1% of premium equivalents for the first quarter of 2016, compared to 29.3% of 

premium equivalents in the same period in 2015. The decrease was largely the 

result of a revenue mix shift towards non-owned call centers and away from 

owned call centers due to the restructuring of two of our call centers in Q4 2015 

and increased incentives provided to several third-party distributors during the 

quarter. 

 

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $12.0 million 

(28.2% of revenues) in the first quarter of 2016, compared to $11.2 million 

(49.5% of revenues) in the same period in 2015.  Improvements in SG&A for the 

quarter as percentage of revenue were realized due the restructuring of our owned 

call centers in Q4 2015 as well as continued focus on operational efficiencies. 

 

EBITDA was $3.5 million in the first quarter of 2016, compared to $0.7 million 

in the same period in 2015.  Adjusted EBITDA is calculated starting with 

EBITDA, which is then further adjusted for items that are not part of regular 

operating activities, including restructuring costs and other non-cash items such as 

stock-based compensation.  Adjusted EBITDA was $4.2 million in the first 

quarter of 2016, compared to $0.3 million in the same period in 2015.  A 

reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA for the 3 months 

ending March 31, 2016 and 2015 is included within this press release. 

 

Adjusted EPS for Q1 2016 was $0.17 compared with $0.01 last year. 

 

The company makes short term loans to our distributors based on actual sales that 

we refer to as "advance commissions".  The advance commissions assist our 

distributors with cost of lead acquisition and provide working capital.  We recover 

the loans from future commissions earned on premiums collected over the period 

in which policies renew.  The first quarter balance of $36.6 million is an increase 

of $12.1 million from the fourth quarter of 2015.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $6.8 million at the end of the first quarter of 

2016. Cash in Q1 decreased by $0.9 million from Q4 2015. We borrowed an 

additional $7.5 million on our bank line of credit in the first quarter of 2016, 
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primarily to fund the increase in advanced commissions. 

 

19. On May 9, 2016, the Company filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the 

2016 fiscal first quarter.  The 10-Q was signed by Defendants McNamee and Hershberger, and 

reaffirmed the Company’s statements about its financial results contained in the press release 

issued on the same day. 

20. On August 8, 2016, the Company issued a press release entitled “Health Insurance 

Innovations, Inc. Reports Record Second Quarter 2016 Financial and Operating Results.”  

Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. (HII) (NASDAQ:HIIQ), a leading developer, 

distributor, and virtual administrator of affordable health plans announced 

financial results for the second quarter ended June 30, 2016.  The Company will 

host a live conference call on Tuesday, August 9, 2016 at 8:30 A.M. EST. 

 

Second Quarter 2016 Consolidated Financial Highlights 

 

 Record revenue was $44.5 million, an increase of 95.6% over $22.7 

million in the second quarter of 2015. 

 

 Record total collections from customers, which our industry refers to as 

premium equivalents, of $77.0 million, an increase of 99.8% over $38.5 

million in the second quarter of 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization) was $6.5 million, compared to $1.8 million in the second 

quarter of 2015. 

 

 GAAP Net Income per diluted share for the second quarter of 2016 was 

$0.24, compared to negative $0.04 in the second quarter of 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EPS, also referred to as Adjusted Net Income per Share, was 

$0.27 in the second quarter of 2016 compared to $0.08 in the second 

quarter of 2015.  

 

 Record policies in force as of June 30, 2016, totaled approximately 

258,400, a 128% increase from 113,200 as of June 30, 2015. 

 

See the reconciliations for premium equivalents, adjusted EBITDA, and adjusted 

EPS within this press release. 

 

Revised 2016 Full Year Guidance 

 

For the full year 2016 we expect Revenue to grow between 48% and 58% year-
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over-year ($155 million to $165 million) and Adjusted EPS to grow between 

104% and 141% ($0.55 to $0.65). 

 

Previously we guided to Revenue of $138 million to $144 million and Adjusted 

EPS of $0.38 to $0.42. 

 

"Our second quarter performance demonstrated continued strong demand for our 

products with exceptional execution" said Patrick McNamee, HII's Chief 

Executive Officer. 

 

"AgileHealthInsurance.com, powered by the team at HealthPocket, delivered the 

strongest revenue growth of all channels.  During the quarter, Agile sold 

approximately 16,000 STM policies and a record 2,500 supplemental dental and 

vision policies.  Agile continues to be our largest distributor and will add new 

products this year to assure future growth" said McNamee. 

 

Regulatory Update 

 

As mentioned in our June 9
th

 2016 press release, the Department of Health and 

Human Services (HHS) proposed a rule that would limit the duration of short-

term, limited-duration health insurance. As expected, there has been significant 

consumer and industry push back. "We believe that HHS was well intentioned in 

their proposed rule, however, it appears they have not fully appreciated the 

negative impact their rule would have on consumers.  The proposed rule sets the 

stage for considerable consumer harm if implemented without modification" said 

McNamee. 

 

In Q2 the industry has seen increased regulatory scrutiny from many states where 

we sell our products. In response to this we have added additional resources to 

ensure continued responsiveness to requests regarding our compliance processes. 

"We have always viewed compliance as a critical pillar of our organization; 

integrity and consumer satisfaction will always be a key element of our strategy" 

said McNamee. 

 

Second Quarter Financial Discussion 

 

Second quarter revenues of $44.5 million increased by 95.6%, as compared to the 

second quarter of 2015, driven primarily by an increase in policies in force and 

continued strong sales in the second quarter. 

 

Adjusted gross margin in the second quarter, which is defined as revenue less 

third-party commissions and credit card or ACH fees, was up both year-over-year 

and sequentially to $17.7 million.  Adjusted gross margin as a percentage of 

premium equivalents in Q2 was 22.9%, down year-over-year but favorable 

sequentially.  The reduced gross margin percentage was driven by a revenue mix 

shift in the quarter towards non-owned call centers and away from owned call 

centers due to the restructuring of two of our owned call centers in late 2015. 
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Total selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $11.7 million 

(26.3% of revenues) in the second quarter of 2016, compared to $10.4 million 

(45.5% of revenues) in the same period in 2015.  Our core SGA for the quarter - 

total SGA less marketing leads and advertising, stock compensation and non-

reoccurring costs - as a percentage of revenue was 19.5% in Q2 2016 compared to 

32.7% in Q2 2015.  Improvements in SG&A for the quarter as percentage of 

revenue were realized due to our continued focus on operational efficiencies.  

 

EBITDA was $5.7 million in the second quarter of 2016, compared to $0.6 

million in the same period in 2015.  Adjusted EBITDA is calculated starting with 

EBITDA, which is then further adjusted for items that are not part of regular 

operating activities, including restructuring costs and other non-cash items such as 

stock-based compensation.  Adjusted EBITDA was $6.5 million in the second 

quarter of 2016, compared to $1.8 million in the same period in 2015.  Adjusted 

EBITDA as a percentage of revenue was 14.7% in the second quarter of 2016, 

compared to 7.9% in the same period in 2015. A reconciliation of net income to 

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA for the 3 and 6 months ending June 30, 2016 and 

2015 is included within this press release. 

 

Adjusted EPS for Q2 2016 was $0.27 compared with $0.08 last year. 

 

The company makes short term loans to our distributors based on actual sales that 

we refer to as "advance commissions".  The advance commissions assist our 

distributors with cost of lead acquisition and provide working capital.  We recover 

the loans from future commissions earned on premiums collected over the period 

in which policies renew.  The second quarter balance of $32.8 million is a 

decrease of $3.8 million from the first quarter of 2016.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $9.3 million at the end of the second quarter of 

2016. Cash in Q2 increased by $2.4 million from Q1 2016 which includes paying 

down $1.0 million of our bank line of credit. 

 

21. On August 8, 2016, the Company filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the 

2016 fiscal second quarter.  The 10-Q was signed by Defendants McNamee and Hershberger, 

and reaffirmed the Company’s statements about its financial results contained in the press release 

issued on the same day. 

22. On November 2, 2016, the Company issued a press release entitled “Health 

Insurance Innovations, Inc. Reports Record Third Quarter 2016 Financial and Operating 

Results.”  Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. (HII) (NASDAQ:HIIQ), a leading developer, 

distributor, and virtual administrator of affordable health insurance and 

supplemental plans announced financial results for the third quarter ended 

September 30, 2016.  The Company will host a live conference call on Thursday, 
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November 3, 2016 at 8:30 A.M. EST. 

 

Third Quarter 2016 Consolidated Financial Highlights 

 

 Revenue was $46.1 million, an increase of 78.7% over $25.8 million in the 

third quarter of 2015. 

 

 Total collections from customers, which our industry refers to as premium 

equivalents, of $78.5 million, an increase of 81.0% over $43.4 million in 

the third quarter of 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization) was $8.1 million, compared to $1.9 million in the third 

quarter of 2015. 

 

 GAAP Net Income per diluted share for the third quarter of 2016 was 

$0.25, compared to $0.10 in the third quarter of 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EPS, also referred to as Adjusted Net Income per Share, was 

$0.33 in the third quarter of 2016 compared to $0.08 in the third quarter of 

2015.  

 

 Policies in force as of September 30, 2016, totaled approximately 252,100, 

an 84% increase from 136,800 as of September 30, 2015. 

 

Premium equivalents, adjusted EBITDA, and adjusted EPS are non-GAAP 

financial measures.  See the reconciliations of these measures to their respective 

most directly comparable GAAP measure below in this press release. 

 

Revised 2016 Full Year Guidance 

 

For the full year 2016 we expect Revenue to grow between 60% and 70% year-

over-year ($170 million to $175 million) and Adjusted EPS to grow between 

210% and 240% ($0.85 to $0.92). 

 

Previously we guided Revenue of $155 million to $165 million and Adjusted EPS 

of $0.55 to $0.65. 

 

"Our third quarter performance reflects strong demand for our affordable health 

insurance products while we continued to execute on our plan" said Patrick 

McNamee, HII's Chief Executive Officer. "Our strong distribution network, 

including our e-commerce division, AgileHealthInsurance.com, and our diverse 

product offering continued to drive our sales growth." 

 

Regulatory Update 

 

On October 31, 2016, the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) 

published their rule that beginning January 1, 2017, limit short-term, limited-
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duration insurance is to be effective no more than three months and require 

notification of non-compliance with the minimum essential coverage standards set 

forth in the Affordable Care Act (ACA). 

 

"Although we are disappointed that HHS has decided to implement changes that 

will further limit consumer options for affordable health insurance, despite 

receiving many comments raising concerns about harmful effects on various 

consumer groups, we believe strong demand exists for our other affordable health 

insurance options, and we will focus on providing such products" said Patrick 

McNamee, HII's Chief Executive Officer. "We are also confident that HII will 

continue to develop new and innovative products that will meet ever-changing 

consumer needs. We look forward to working with state and federal insurance 

regulators to ensure consumers continue to have access to health insurance 

products that meet their personal and financial needs." 

 

Third Quarter Financial Discussion 

 

Third quarter revenues of $46.1 million increased 78.7%, compared to the third 

quarter of 2015, driven by an increase in policies in force and continued strong 

demand for our health insurance and supplemental plans. 

 

Adjusted gross margin in the third quarter, which is defined as revenue less third-

party commissions and credit card or ACH fees, was up both year-over-year and 

sequentially to $19.3 million.  Adjusted gross margin as a percentage of revenues 

in the third quarter of 2016 was 41.9%, down year-over-year but favorable 

sequentially.  The year-over-year reduced gross margin percentage was driven by 

a revenue mix shift in the quarter towards non-owned call centers and away from 

owned call centers due to the restructuring of two owned call centers in late 2015. 

 

Total selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $11.9 million 

(25.7% of revenues) in the third quarter of 2016, compared to $10.8 million 

(42.0% of revenues) in the same period in 2015.  Our core SGA for the quarter - 

total SGA less marketing leads and advertising, stock compensation and non-

recurring costs - as a percentage of revenue was 18.1% in third quarter of 2016, 

compared to 30.8% in the third quarter of 2015.  Improvements in SG&A for the 

quarter as a percentage of revenue, compared to the same period last year, were 

the result of continued focus on operational efficiencies and the restructuring of 

two owned call centers in late 2015.  

 

EBITDA was $7.4 million in the third quarter of 2016, compared to $1.5 million 

in the same period in 2015.  Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA adjusted 

for items that are not part of regular operating activities, including restructuring 

costs and other non-cash items such as stock-based compensation.  Adjusted 

EBITDA was $8.1 million in the third quarter of 2016, compared to $1.9 million 

in the same period in 2015.  Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue was 

17.6% in the third quarter of 2016, compared to 7.3% in the same period in 2015. 

A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA for the three 

and nine months ending September 30, 2016 and 2015 is included within this 
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press release. 

 

GAAP net income per diluted share for the third quarter was $0.25, compared to 

$0.10 in the third quarter of 2015. Adjusted EPS for the third quarter of 2016 was 

$0.33, compared to $0.08 in the prior year. Adjusted EPS is a key measure used 

by management and the investment community to understand and evaluate our 

core operating performance and trends. A reconciliation of net income to adjusted 

net income per share is included within this press release. 

 

The company makes short-term loans to our distributors, based on actual sales, 

that we refer to as advanced commissions.  These advanced commissions assist 

our distributors with cost-of-lead acquisition and provide working capital.  We 

recover the loans from future commissions earned on premiums collected over the 

period in which policies renew.  The third quarter advanced commission balance 

of $30.7 million is a decrease of $2.1 million from the second quarter of 2016.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $14.3 million at the end of the third quarter of 

2016. Cash at September 30
th

 2016 increased by $5.0 million from June 30
th

 2016 

which includes reductions for paying down $9.0 million of our bank line of credit. 

 

23. On November 3, 2016, the Company filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for 

the 2016 fiscal third quarter.  The 10-Q was signed by Defendants McNamee and Hershberger, 

and reaffirmed the Company’s statements about its financial results contained in the press release 

issued on November 2, 2016. 

24. On March 1, 2017, the Company issued a press release entitled “Health Insurance 

Innovations, Inc. Reports Record Fourth Quarter and Fiscal 2016 Financial and Operating 

Results.”  Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. (NASDAQ:HIIQ), a leading developer, 

distributor, and cloud-based administrator of affordable health insurance and 

supplemental plans announced financial results for the fourth quarter ended 

December 31, 2016.  The Company will host a live conference call on Thursday, 

March 2, 2017 at 8:30 A.M. EST. 

 

2016 Consolidated Financial Highlights 

 

 Revenue was $184.5 million, an increase of 76.2% over $104.7 million in 

2015. 

 

 Total collections from customers, which our industry refers to as premium 

equivalents, of $311.6 million, an increase of 77.3% over $175.8 million 

in 2015. 

 

 Net Income attributable to Health Insurance Innovations, Inc was $4.5 
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million, compared to $0.6 million in 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization) was $27.8 million, compared to $6.6 millionin 2015. 

 

 GAAP diluted earnings per share was $0.57, compared to $0.08 in 2015. 

 

 Adjusted earnings per share also referred to as Adjusted Net Income per 

Share, was $1.12 in 2016 compared to $0.27 in 2015.  

 

2017 Full Year Guidance 

 

For the full year 2017 we expect Revenue to grow 15% to 20% year-over-year 

($210 million to $220 million), Adjusted EBITDA to grow 20% to 30% year-

over-year ($33 million to $36 million) and Adjusted EPS to grow 20% to 30% 

($1.35 to $1.45). 

 

"We are pleased with record revenue and profit in 2016 and that we exceeded our 

annual revenue and adjusted earnings per share guidance. Sales accelerated in the 

2017 open enrollment period, across all our distribution channels. Record policies 

in force at the end of 2016 - 290,100 policies, is a 49% year-over-year increase," 

said Gavin Southwell, HIIQ's Chief Executive Officer and President. 

 

"We have also invested in our customer service and compliance functions - both 

by adding resource and technology solutions. These market-leading support 

functions along with our enhanced use of data and strong carrier relationships, 

mean we are well positioned for future growth, whilst succeeding in our mission 

of providing affordable health insurance and related products to the consumer," 

said Southwell. 

 

Fourth Quarter 2016 Consolidated Financial Highlights 

 

 Revenue was $51.4 million, an increase of 53.0% over $33.6 million in the 

fourth quarter of 2015. 

 

 Premium Equivalents of $85.3 million, an increase of 53.6% over $55.6 

million in the fourth quarter of 2015. 

 

 Net Income attributable to Health Insurance Innovations, Inc for the fourth 

quarter was a loss of $0.2 million, compared a profit of $0.2 million in the 

fourth quarter of 2015. 

 

 Adjusted EBITDA was $8.9 million, compared to $2.6 million in the 

fourth quarter of 2015. 

 

 GAAP diluted earnings per share for the fourth quarter of 2016 was a loss 

of $0.04, compared to $0.02 of income in the fourth quarter of 2015; One-

time items totaling $0.25 impacted Q4 2016 diluted earnings per share. 
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 Adjusted earnings per share was $0.35 in the fourth quarter of 2016 

compared to $0.10 in the fourth quarter of 2015.  

 

 Policies in force as of December 31, 2016, totaled approximately 290,100, 

a 49% increase from 195,100 as of December 31, 2015. 

 

Premium equivalents, adjusted EBITDA, and adjusted EPS are non-GAAP 

financial measures.  See the reconciliations of these measures to their respective 

most directly comparable GAAP measure below in this press release. 

 

2016 Financial Discussion 

 

2016 revenues of $184.5 million increased 76.2%, compared to 2015, driven by 

increased policies in force.  Policies in force as of December 31, 2016, totaled 

approximately 290,100, a 49% increase from 195,100 as of December 31, 2015. 

 

Total selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $51.5 million 

(27.9% of revenues) in 2016, compared to $47.3 million (45.2% of revenues) in 

2015.  Our core SG&A for the year - total SG&A less marketing leads and 

advertising, stock compensation and non-recurring costs - as a percentage of 

revenue was 18.5% in 2016, compared to 31.1% in 2015.    

  

Adjusted EBITDA, calculated as EBITDA adjusted for items that are not part of 

regular operating activities, including restructuring costs and other non-cash items 

such as stock-based compensation, was $27.8 million in 2016, compared to $6.6 

million in 2015.  Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue was 15.0% in 

2016, compared to 6.3% in 2015. EBITDA was $11.7 million in 2016, compared 

to $2.5 million in 2015.  

 

GAAP diluted earnings per share for 2016 was $0.57, compared to $0.08 in 2015. 

Adjusted EPS for 2016 was $1.12, compared to $0.27 in 2015. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $12.2 million at December 31, 2016, an 

increase of $4.5 million from December 31
st
 2015. 

 

Fourth Quarter Financial Discussion 

 

Fourth quarter revenues of $51.4 million increased 53.0%, compared to the fourth 

quarter of 2015, driven primarily by an increase in policies in force and 

accelerating sales in the fourth quarter through the ACA open enrollment period. 

 

Total SG&A expenses were $16.0 million (31.1% of revenues) in the fourth 

quarter of 2016, compared to $15.0 million (44.5% of revenues) in the same 

period in 2015.  During the fourth quarter of 2016, we had a one-time severance 

expense related to our former President / CEO and our former Chief Operating 

Officer.  The one-time severance was of approximately $2.9 million for the 

quarter.  
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Our core SG&A for the quarter - total SG&A less marketing leads and 

advertising, stock compensation and non-recurring costs - as a percentage of 

revenue was 16.5% in the fourth quarter of 2016, compared to 25.6% in the fourth 

quarter of 2015.     

 

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA adjusted for items that are not part of 

regular operating activities, including restructuring costs, tax receivable 

adjustments and other non-cash items such as stock-based compensation.  

Adjusted EBITDA was $8.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2016, compared to 

$2.6 million in the same period in 2015.  Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of 

revenue was 17.2% in the fourth quarter of 2016, compared to 7.6% in the same 

period in 2015.  A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA 

for the three and twelve months ending December 31, 2016 and 2015 is included 

within this press release. 

 

EBITDA was negative $4.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2016, compared to 

negative $0.3 million in the same period in 2015.  EBITDA was negatively 

impacted by several one-time events in the fourth quarter, including severance 

related to our former President / CEO and former Chief Operating Officer, which 

had a cumulative impact of approximately $2.9 million.  This expense was a 

combination of cash severance of $1.4 million and stock compensation of $1.5 

million.  Additionally, we had a one-time non-cash release of our Valuation 

Allowance related to deferred tax assets.  The release was triggered, in part, by 

the Company's projections of future taxable income.  Due to this release, we 

recognized a corresponding liability for our Tax Receivable Agreement 

obligation, resulting in a one-time, non-cash, negative impact of $9.1 million to 

EBITDA.  The cumulative negative impact to EBITDA of these one-time events 

in the fourth quarter was $12.0 million. 

 

GAAP diluted earnings per share for the fourth quarter was a loss of $0.04, 

compared to income of $0.02 in the fourth quarter of 2015.  GAAP diluted 

earnings per share was impacted negatively by one-time events in Q4, including 

severance of our former President / CEO and former Chief Operating Officer 

which had a cumulative negative impact of $0.12 per diluted share and the release 

of the Valuation Allowance had a negative impact of $0.13 per diluted share.  The 

impact of the Valuation Allowance release includes an $8.1 million tax benefit 

which offset the $9.1 million Tax Receivable Agreement accrual.  The cumulative 

impact of these one-time events in the fourth quarter was negative $0.25 per 

diluted share. 

 

Adjusted EPS for the fourth quarter of 2016 was $0.35, compared to $0.10 in the 

prior year. The Adjusted EPS excluded both the one-time severance of our former 

President / CEO and our former Chief Operating Officer and the impact of 

releasing our Valuation Allowance.  Adjusted EPS is a key measure used by 

management and the investment community to understand and evaluate our core 

operating performance and trends.  A reconciliation of net income to adjusted net 

income per share is included within this press release. 
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The Company makes short-term loans to our distributors, based on actual sales, 

that we refer to as advanced commissions.  These advanced commissions assist 

our distributors with cost-of-lead acquisition and provide working capital.  We 

recover the loans from future commissions earned on premiums collected over the 

period in which policies renew.  The fourth quarter advanced commission balance 

of $37.0 million is an increase of $6.3 million from the third quarter of 2016.  

This increase was driven by accelerating sales by our distributors through the 

ACA open enrollment period. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $12.2 million at December 31, 2016, a decrease 

of $2.1 million from September 30
th

 2016. We paid down $5.0 million of our 

bank line of credit in the fourth quarter taking our balance to zero at December 

31, 2016. 

 

Regulatory Update 

 

On October 31, 2016, the Internal Revenue Service, the Employee Benefits 

Security Administration, and the U.S Department of Health and Human Services, 

collectively "HHS," published Internal Revenue Bulletin 2016-47 that stated, 

effective January 1, 2017, all STM plans must terminate no later than December 

31, 2017, and effective beginning April 1, 2017, set new limits on STM duration 

to periods of less than three months but allows for re-applies with the same or 

different health insurance carrier.  The rule also requires notification of non-

compliance with the minimum essential coverage standards set forth in the 

Affordable Care Act. 

 

"We are confident that HIIQ will continue to develop new and innovative 

products that will meet ever-changing consumer needs.  We look forward to 

working with state and federal insurance regulators to ensure consumers continue 

to have access to health insurance products that meet their personal and financial 

needs," said Gavin Southwell, HIIQ's Chief Executive Officer and President. 

 

The Company received notification in July 2016 from the Indiana Department of 

Insurance that a multistate examination had been commenced providing for the 

review of HCC Life Insurance Company's ("HCC") short-term medical plans, 

Affordable Care Act compliance, marketing, and rate and form filing for all 

products.  As the Company was a distributor of HCC products, the notification 

indicated that the multistate examination will include a review of the activities of 

the Company and a review of whether the Company's practices are in compliance 

with Indiana insurance law and the similar laws of other states participating in the 

examination.  The Indiana Department of Insurance is serving as the managing 

participant of the multistate examination. In addition to the multistate examination 

led by Indiana, we are aware that several other states, including Arkansas, Florida, 

Kansas, Massachusetts, Montana, Ohio, South Dakota, and Texas are reviewing 

alleged non-compliance with sales practices, non-compliance with insurance laws, 

and/or unlicensed sale of insurance by third-party distributor call centers utilized 

by the Company. 
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The Company is proactively communicating and cooperating with all applicable 

regulatory agencies, and has provided a detailed action plan to regulators that 

summarizes the Company's newly developed and enhanced compliance and 

control mechanisms.  It is too early to determine whether any of these regulatory 

examinations will have a material impact on the Company. Additional 

information regarding these regulatory matters will be included in the Company's 

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 2016 fiscal year. 

 

25. On March 2, 2017, the Company filed its annual report on Form 10-K for the 

2016 fiscal year.  The 10-K was signed by Defendant Southwell, and reaffirmed the Company’s 

statements about its financial results contained in the press release issued on March 1, 2017. 

26. On May 3, 2017, the Company issued a press release entitled “Health Insurance 

Innovations, Inc. Reports Record First Quarter 2017 Financial and Operating Results.”  Therein, 

the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. (NASDAQ:HIIQ), a leading developer, 

distributor, and cloud-based administrator of affordable health insurance and 

supplemental plans announced financial results for the first quarter ended March 

31, 2017.  The Company will host a live conference call on Thursday, May 4, 

2017 at 8:30 A.M. EDT. 

 

First Quarter 2017 Consolidated Financial Highlights 

 

 Record revenue was $55.9 million, an increase of 31.5% over $42.5 

million in the first quarter of 2016. 

 

 Record total collections from customers (premium equivalents) of $90.9 

million, an increase of 28.6% over $70.7 million in the first quarter of 

2016. 

 

 Net Income attributable to Health Insurance Innovations, Inc was $5.8 

million, an increase of 545.2% over $0.9 million in the first quarter of 

2016. 

 

 Record adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization) was $9.7 million, compared to $4.2 million in the first 

quarter of 2016, an increase of 127.1%. 

 

 GAAP diluted earnings per share was $0.58, compared to $0.12 in first 

quarter 2016, an increase of 385.2%. 

 

 Record adjusted earnings per share also referred to as Adjusted Net 

Income per Share, was $0.36 compared to $0.17 in the first quarter of 

2016, an increase of 111.8%.  
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 Record policies in force as of March 31, 2017, totaled approximately 

345,000, a 33.8% increase from 257,900 as of March 31, 2016. 

 

Premium equivalents, adjusted EBITDA, and adjusted EPS are non-GAAP 

financial measures.  See the reconciliations of these measures to their respective 

most directly comparable GAAP measure below in this press release. 

 

Revised 2017 Full Year Guidance 

 

We are revising our guidance upwards for the full year 2017.  We expect Revenue 

to grow 15% to 20% year-over-year ($212 million to $222 million), Adjusted 

EBITDA to grow 30% to 40% year-over-year ($36 million to $39 million) and 

Adjusted EPS to grow 25% to 35% ($1.40 to $1.50). Previously we guided to 

Revenue of $210 million to $220 million, Adjusted EBITDA of $33 

million to $36 million and Adjusted EPS of $1.35 to $1.45. 

 

"Our record first quarter performance demonstrated continued strong demand for 

our products and solid execution as we continue to meet the affordable health care 

needs of our consumers. We will continue to focus on earnings growth and 

product innovation," said Gavin Southwell, HIIQ's Chief Executive Officer and 

President. 

 

First Quarter 2017 Financial Discussion 

 

First quarter revenues of $55.9 million increased 31.5%, compared to the first 

quarter of 2016, driven primarily by an increase in policies in force and 

accelerating IFP sales in the fourth quarter of 2016 and first quarter of 2017 

through the ACA open enrollment period. 

 

Total SG&A expenses were $15.3 million (27.3% of revenues) in the first quarter 

of 2017, compared to $12.0 million (28.2% of revenues) in the same period in 

2016. Our core SG&A for the quarter - total SG&A less marketing leads and 

advertising, stock compensation, transaction, severance, restructuring and other 

costs - was $9.8 million (17.6% of revenues) in the first quarter of 2017, 

compared to $8.5 million (20.1% of revenues) in the same period of 2016.  

   

EBITDA was $8.0 million in the first quarter of 2017, compared to $3.5 

million in the same period in 2016, an increase of 131.0%.  

 

Adjusted EBITDA was $9.7 million in the first quarter of 2017, an increase of 

127.1% over $4.2 million in the same period in 2016.  Adjusted EBITDA as a 

percentage of revenue was 17.3% in the first quarter of 2017, compared to 10.0% 

in the same period in 2016.  Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA, adjusted 

for items that are not part of regular operating activities, including restructuring 

costs, tax receivable adjustments and other non-cash items such as stock-based 

compensation.  A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA 

for the three months ending March 31, 2017 and 2016 is included within this 
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press release. 

 

GAAP diluted earnings per share for the first quarter was $0.58, compared 

to $0.12 in the first quarter of 2016. Included in our GAAP earnings per diluted 

share is a $0.14 benefit that resulted from the early adoption of an accounting 

policy related to share-based payment transactions. 

 

Adjusted EPS for the first quarter of 2017 was $0.36, compared to $0.17 in the 

prior year. A reconciliation of net income to adjusted net income per share is 

included within this press release. 

 

The Company makes short-term loans to our distributors, based on actual sales, 

that we refer to as advanced commissions.  These advanced commissions assist 

our distributors with cost-of-lead acquisition and provide working capital.  We 

recover the loans from future commissions earned on premiums collected over the 

period in which policies renew.  The first quarter advanced commission balance 

of $35.7 million is a decrease of $1.3 million from the fourth quarter of 2016. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $15.8 million at March 31, 2017, an increase 

of $3.6 million from December 31
st
 2016. 

 

During the quarter, the Company announced a secondary underwritten public 

offering of 3,000,000 shares of its Class A common stock.  All such shares were 

offered and sold by certain stockholders of the Company, which stockholders are 

entities owned and controlled by Michael Kosloske, the founder, Chief of Product 

Innovation, and a director of the Company.  The selling stockholders received all 

of the net proceeds from the offering.  The Company did not sell any shares in the 

offering.  The offering closed on March 13, 2017. This transaction resulted in 

an $18.6 million increase in our deferred tax assets which was fully offset by a 

corresponding liability for future payments required under the tax receivable 

agreement as the Company recognizes sufficient income to utilize the deferred tax 

asset. 

 

27. On May 4, 2017, the Company filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the 201 

fiscal first quarter.  The 10-Q was signed by Defendants Southwell and Hershberger, and 

reaffirmed the Company’s statements about its financial results contained in the press release 

issued on May 3, 2017. 

28. On August 2, 2017, the Company issued a press release entitled “Health Insurance 

Innovations, Inc. Reports Record Second Quarter 2017 Financial and Operating Results.”  

Therein, the Company, in relevant part, stated: 

Health Insurance Innovations, Inc. (NASDAQ:HIIQ), a leading developer, 

distributor, and cloud-based administrator of affordable health insurance and 

supplemental plans announced financial results for the second quarter ended June 
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30, 2017.  The Company will host a live conference call on Thursday, August 3, 

2017 at 8:30 A.M. EDT. 

 

Second Quarter 2017 Consolidated Financial Highlights 

 

 Record revenue was $61.8 million, an increase of 38.9% over $44.5 

million in the second quarter of 2016. 

 

 Record total collections from customers (premium equivalents) of $98.9 

million, an increase of 28.5% over $77.0 million in the second quarter of 

2016. 

 

 Record adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization) was $12.5 million, compared to $6.5 million in the 

second quarter of 2016, an increase of 92.3%. 

 

 GAAP diluted earnings per share was $0.35, compared to $0.24 in the 

second quarter of 2016, an increase of 45.8%. 

 

 Record adjusted earnings per share also referred to as Adjusted Net 

Income per Share, was $0.46 compared to $0.27 in the second quarter of 

2016, an increase of 70.4%. 

 

 Record policies in force as of June 30, 2017, totaled approximately 

359,500, a 39.1% increase from 258,400 as of June 30, 2016. 

 

Premium equivalents, adjusted EBITDA, and adjusted EPS are non-GAAP 

financial measures.  See the reconciliations of these measures to their respective 

most directly comparable GAAP measure below in this press release. 

 

Revised 2017 Full Year Guidance 

 

We are revising our guidance upwards for the full year 2017.  We expect Revenue 

to grow 22% to 25% year-over-year ($225 million to $230 million), Adjusted 

EBITDA to grow 41% to 51% year-over-year ($39 million to $42 million) and 

Adjusted EPS to grow 29% to 38% ($1.45 to $1.55). Previously we guided to 

Revenue of $212 million to $222 million, Adjusted EBITDA of $36 

million to $39 million and Adjusted EPS of $1.40 to $1.50. 

 

"In our record second quarter results, we continue to drive top line growth and 

bottom line results with disciplined execution of our strategy.  In the second half 

of 2017, we will continue to focus on our product and technology innovation to 

meet consumers' affordable health care needs" said Gavin Southwell, HIIQ's 

Chief Executive Officer and President. 

 

Second Quarter 2017 Financial Discussion 

 

Second quarter revenues of $61.8 million increased 38.9%, compared to the 
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second quarter of 2016, driven primarily by an increase in policies in force. 

 

Total SG&A expense was $14.7 million (23.8% of revenues) in the second 

quarter of 2017, compared to $11.7 million (26.3% of revenues) in the same 

period in 2016. Our core SG&A for the quarter - total SG&A less marketing leads 

and advertising, stock compensation, transaction, severance, restructuring and 

other costs - was $11.1 million (18.0% of revenues) in the second quarter of 2017, 

compared to $8.7 million (19.5% of revenues) in the same period of 2016.    

 

EBITDA was $10.7 million in the second quarter of 2017, compared to $5.7 

million in the same period in 2016, an increase of 87.7%.  

 

Adjusted EBITDA was $12.5 million in the second quarter of 2017, an increase of 

92.3% over $6.5 million in the same period in 2016.  Adjusted EBITDA as a 

percentage of revenue was 20.3% in the second quarter of 2017, compared to 

14.7% in the same period in 2016.  Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA, 

adjusted for items that are not part of regular operating activities, including 

restructuring costs, tax receivable adjustments and other non-cash items such as 

stock-based compensation.  A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and 

adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 is included 

within this press release. 

 

GAAP diluted earnings per share for the second quarter was $0.35, compared 

to $0.24 in the second quarter of 2016. 

 

Adjusted EPS for the second quarter of 2017 was $0.46, compared to $0.27 in the 

prior year. A reconciliation of net income to adjusted net income per share is 

included within this press release. 

 

The Company makes short-term loans to our distributors, based on actual sales, 

that we refer to as advanced commissions.  These advanced commissions assist 

our distributors with cost-of-lead acquisition and provide working capital.  We 

recover the loans from future commissions earned on premiums collected over the 

period in which policies renew.  The second quarter advanced commission 

balance of $30.7 million is a decrease of $6.3 million from December 31, 

2016 and a decrease of $5.0 million sequentially. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $27.5 million at June 30, 2017, an increase 

of $15.3 million from December 31, 2016 and an increase of $11.7 

million sequentially. 

 

On May 5, 2017 the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3, 

effective May 19, 2017, to offer and sell, from time to time, up to $150 million of 

any combination of debt securities, Class A Common Stock, Preferred Stock, 

Warrants, Units or Purchase Contracts as described in the prospectus. Securities 

may be sold in one or more classes or series and in amounts, at prices and on 

terms that we will determine at the times of the offerings and we may offer the 

securities independently or together in any combination for sale directly to 
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purchasers or through underwriters, dealers or agents to be designated at a future 

date. We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of the securities for general 

corporate purposes, including potentially expanding existing businesses, acquiring 

businesses and investing in other business opportunities. At June 30, 2017, the 

Company had not sold any securities under this Registration Statement. 

 

On July 17, 2017, subsequent to the quarter-end, the Company entered into a 

Credit Agreement with SunTrust Bank. The Credit Agreement provides for 

a $30.0 million revolving credit facility pursuant to which the Lender has agreed 

to make revolving loans and issue letters of credit. The Credit Facility will be 

used for general corporate purposes, including to fund ongoing working capital 

needs, capital expenditures, and permitted acquisitions. The Credit Facility also 

provides the Company with the right to request additional incremental term loans 

thereunder up to an aggregate additional amount of $20 million, subject to the 

satisfaction of certain additional conditions provided therein. Concurrent with the 

execution  of the Credit Agreement, the Company terminated its existing $15.0 

million line of credit established on December 15, 2014. 

 

We believe that both the shelf filing and the increased and extended revolving line 

of credit will allow the Company the flexibility to access capital, if needed, and 

will contribute to the generation of future shareholder value.  We expect to 

continue to generate cash flow from operations throughout 2017. 

 

29. On August 4, 2017, the Company filed its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the 

201 fiscal second quarter.  The 10-Q was signed by Defendants Southwell and Hershberger, and 

reaffirmed the Company’s statements about its financial results contained in the press release 

issued on August 2, 2017. 

30. The above statements identified in ¶¶18-229 were materially false and/or 

misleading, as well as failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, 

operations, and prospects.  Specifically, Defendants failed to disclose: (1) that the Company’s 

potential legal liability was much higher than the Company was reporting; (2) that the initial 

rejection of the Company’s licensing application in Florida was due, in part, to the Company’s 

failure to report legal actions involving Company insiders; (3) that a final rejection of the 

Company’s licensing application in Florida would be a “reporting event,” obligating HIIQ to 

inform other states in which it does business of the rejection; (4) that, as a result, the rejection 

would likely result in the Company losing licenses in the other states where it does business; and 

(5) that, as a result of the foregoing, Defendants’ statements about HIIQ’s business, operations, 

and prospects, were false and misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis. 
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Disclosures at the End of the Class Period  

31. On September 11, 2017, a report was published on SeekingAlpha.com entitled 

“Health Insurance Innovations: Penalties To Exceed $100 Million And Undisclosed ‘Domino 

Effect.’”  Therein, the report stated that: (1) “HIIQ is currently facing a tidal wave of fraud 

investigations, lawsuits and cease-and-desist orders, which now already extend to at least 42 

states”; (2) “[m]ultiple new data points relating to multiple states have recently emerged” which 

“indicate that legal liability could be in excess of $100 million”; (3) “in June of 2017, HIIQ was 

rejected by the Florida state insurance regulator over its application for a license to conduct 

business as a 3
rd

 party administrator in Florida”; (4) the rejection was due in part to the fact that 

HIIQ insiders answered “no” to the question of whether they have been a party to any civil 

actions over the past 10 years involving dishonesty, breach of trust, etc., but that, the Florida 

regulator uncovered multiple such undisclosed legal actions against multiple HIIQ insiders; and 

(5) HIIQ “wrote a letter of appeal to the Florida regulator dated June 16, 2017” in which the 

Company warned that “a rejection in Florida would comprise a ‘reporting event’, obligating 

HIIQ to inform the other states in which it does business” which could “trigger a ‘domino effect’ 

which could result in its losing licenses in the other states where it does business.”  The report’s 

thesis stated: 

Over the past seven months, shares of HIIQ rose from below $5.00 to over $35.00 

– a seven bagger – despite only marginal apparent improvements in its business. 

 

During this time, revenue has increased slightly, and HIIQ has successfully 

managed to lower its heavy dependence upon STM plans. But this does nothing to 

absolve HIIQ of its massive undetermined liabilities stemming from fraud 

investigations which now span fully 42 states. And, the problems then get worse 

from there. 

 

HIIQ is now set to quickly plunge by at least 80% to $6.00 or below. Such a 

decline would really just put HIIQ back to where it was right at the time of the 

2016 US election. (see chart above) In reality, I strongly expect that there is a 

high likelihood that HIIQ ultimately plunges to below $1.00 and faces delisting. 

No, this is not an exaggeration. Keep reading. 

 

Consider the following: 

 

HIIQ is now facing fraud investigations or cease and desist orders from 42 

different states. 
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Recently emerged data points now indicate that legal liability will be in the range 

of $100 million or more (as opposed to the mere $1 million number which has 

been published by certain authors who recently spoke to HIIQ management). 

 

On the heels of these mounting state fraud investigations, in June of 2017, HIIQ 

was just rejected for licensure in its home state of Florida. In its appeal to the 

regulator (also from June of 2017), HIIQ then PRIVATELY cited to the regulator 

the specter of a disastrous “domino effect” from this rejection by which licensing 

denials will then spread to the other states in which HIIQ does business. 

 

These were the actual very alarming words used by HIIQ to the regulator in June 

of 2017, yet this impact was not disclosed to investors in the most recent 10-Q or 

anywhere else for that matter. 

 

The scathing letter from the regulator cited multiple reasons for the denial of the 

license, in direct contradiction with disclosure to investors by HIIQ. For example, 

as part of its independent background check, the regulator uncovered multiple 

undisclosed legal actions against multiple HIIQ insiders. When confronted with 

this by the regulator, HIIQ refused to respond. Again, HIIQ disclosed something 

very different to investors. 

 

Delay, downplay, dismiss, deny 

 

HIIQ has retained an expensive law firm and has now submitted, re-submitted, 

and appealed for this license at least four times over the course of 2016 and 2017. 

Now that the final rejection is imminent, HIIQ has somehow tried to suggest that 

it doesn’t even need such a license in the first place. 

 

As of the most recent disclosure, the Florida regulator is set to publish its final 

determination in October 2017 (a few weeks from now). For the sake of 

completeness, I have already sent a copy of this entire article to the Florida 

regulator. 

 

The slew of massive legal and regulatory problems facing HIIQ is set to unravel 

in the very near term. There are multiple near-term catalysts. The most visible 

catalyst is coming in just a few weeks in October 2017. 

 

HIIQ has repeatedly attempted to suggest that it is actually some other party (such 

as HCC) that is being investigated or is at fault. Yet anyone who reads the actual 

legal filings can immediately see otherwise. In the fraud complaints from 42 state 

governments, the repeated theme is that HIIQ has engaged in fraudulent sales 

practices while operating without a license. And now, HIIQ has brazenly 

attempted to suggest to investors that maybe it just doesn’t need such licenses at 

all. 

 

And here is where it gets really interesting: 
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Even as HIIQ passionately encourages investors to buy, the insiders have been 

aggressively dumping their own shares. So far in 2017, HIIQ insiders have 

dumped millions of shares taking in over $50 million. Keep in mind that just a 

few months ago, the market cap of the entire company was less than $200 million. 

In November of 2016, the market cap was just $70 million. 

 

Notice that insiders were aggressively dumping a huge volume of shares even 

when the price was more than 50% lower than the current level, at just $14. 

Selling has come from all corners, including the founder, the CFO, CTO, and the 

CEO of its Healthpocket division. 

 

* * * 

 

Delay, downplay, dismiss, deny 

 

In fact, now that the legal consequences are rapidly closing in, management’s 

actions are becoming downright blatant. Last week (on Tuesday, September 5
th

), 

after the stock had suddenly dropped from $37 to below $30, Craig Hallum put 

together a hastily arranged conference call for management to reassure investors. 

As expected, the stock briefly rebounded. Just hours after this impromptu call 

encouraging investors to buy, multiple members of management began disclosing 

additional large share sales by insiders, quickly amounting to $1.5 million over 

just two days. 

 

* * * 

 

So, you do the math 

 

It will quickly become clear why I am saying that HIIQ has the potential to drop 

to below $1.00 and face ultimate delisting. Either way, given the unfolding of the 

events above, a $6.00 share price will likely prove generous by the time Florida 

makes public its decision in just a few weeks. 

 

32. On this news, the Company’s stock price fell $6.55 per share, or 21.9%, to close 

at $23.35 per share on September 11, 2017, on unusually heavy trading volume.  The stock price 

continued to decline after hours, falling approximately 18%, to approximately $19.10 per share. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

33. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class, consisting of all persons and entities that 

acquired HIIQ’s securities between May 9, 2016, and September 11, 2017, inclusive, and who 

were damaged thereby (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are Defendants, the officers and 

directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate families and their 
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legal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns, and any entity in which Defendants have or 

had a controlling interest. 

34. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Throughout the Class Period, HIIQ’s common stock actively traded on the 

NASDAQ.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and 

can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are at least 

hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class.  Millions of HIIQ shares were traded 

publicly during the Class Period on the NASDAQ.  As of August 1, 2017, HIIQ had 12,600,418 

shares of common stock outstanding.  Record owners and other members of the Class may be 

identified from records maintained by HIIQ or its transfer agent and may be notified of the 

pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in 

securities class actions. 

35. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein.    

36. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.  

37. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as alleged 

herein;  

(b) whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the Class 

Period omitted and/or misrepresented material facts about the business, operations, and prospects 

of HIIQ; and  

(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper 

measure of damages. 

38. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 
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adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation makes it impossible for members of the Class to individually 

redress the wrongs done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as 

a class action. 

UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS 

39. The market for HIIQ’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all 

relevant times.  As a result of these materially false and/or misleading statements, and/or failures 

to disclose, HIIQ’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.  

Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired HIIQ’s securities 

relying upon the integrity of the market price of the Company’s securities and market 

information relating to HIIQ, and have been damaged thereby. 

40. During the Class Period, Defendants materially misled the investing public, 

thereby inflating the price of HIIQ’s securities, by publicly issuing false and/or misleading 

statements and/or omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Defendants’ statements, 

as set forth herein, not false and/or misleading.  The statements and omissions were materially 

false and/or misleading because they failed to disclose material adverse information and/or 

misrepresented the truth about HIIQ’s business, operations, and prospects as alleged herein. 

41. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized 

in this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the 

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class.  As described herein, during the 

Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or 

misleading statements about HIIQ’s financial well-being and prospects.  These material 

misstatements and/or omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the market an 

unrealistically positive assessment of the Company and its financial well-being and prospects, 

thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially inflated at all relevant 

times.  Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class Period 

resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at 
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artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein when the truth was 

revealed.  

LOSS CAUSATION 

42. Defendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused 

the economic loss suffered by Plaintiff and the Class.   

43. During the Class Period, Plaintiff and the Class purchased HIIQ’s securities at 

artificially inflated prices and were damaged thereby.  The price of the Company’s securities 

significantly declined when the misrepresentations made to the market, and/or the information 

alleged herein to have been concealed from the market, and/or the effects thereof, were revealed, 

causing investors’ losses. 

SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

44. As alleged herein, Defendants acted with scienter since Defendants knew that the 

public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were 

materially false and/or misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or 

disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced 

in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of the 

federal securities laws.  As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, the Individual Defendants, by 

virtue of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding HIIQ, their control over, 

and/or receipt and/or modification of HIIQ’s allegedly materially misleading misstatements 

and/or their associations with the Company which made them privy to confidential proprietary 

information concerning HIIQ, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein.  

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE 

(FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE) 
 

45. The market for HIIQ’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all 

relevant times.  As a result of the materially false and/or misleading statements and/or failures to 

disclose, HIIQ’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.  On 

August 30, 2017, the Company’s stock price closed at a Class Period high of $36.35 per share.  

Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s 
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securities relying upon the integrity of the market price of HIIQ’s securities and market 

information relating to HIIQ, and have been damaged thereby. 

46. During the Class Period, the artificial inflation of HIIQ’s stock was caused by the 

material misrepresentations and/or omissions particularized in this Complaint causing the 

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class.  As described herein, during the 

Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or 

misleading statements about HIIQ’s business, prospects, and operations.  These material 

misstatements and/or omissions created an unrealistically positive assessment of HIIQ and its 

business, operations, and prospects, thus causing the price of the Company’s securities to be 

artificially inflated at all relevant times, and when disclosed, negatively affected the value of the 

Company stock.  Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class 

Period resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities 

at such artificially inflated prices, and each of them has been damaged as a result.   

47. At all relevant times, the market for HIIQ’s securities was an efficient market for 

the following reasons, among others: 

(a)  HIIQ stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and actively traded on 

the NASDAQ, a highly efficient and automated market; 

(b)  As a regulated issuer, HIIQ filed periodic public reports with the SEC and/or the 

NASDAQ; 

(c)  HIIQ regularly communicated with public investors via established market 

communication mechanisms, including through regular dissemination of press releases on the 

national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-ranging public disclosures, 

such as communications with the financial press and other similar reporting services; and/or 

(d) HIIQ was followed by securities analysts employed by brokerage firms who 

wrote reports about the Company, and these reports were distributed to the sales force and 

certain customers of their respective brokerage firms.  Each of these reports was publicly 

available and entered the public marketplace.  

48. As a result of the foregoing, the market for HIIQ’s securities promptly digested 
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current information regarding HIIQ from all publicly available sources and reflected such 

information in HIIQ’s stock price. Under these circumstances, all purchasers of HIIQ’s securities 

during the Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of HIIQ’s securities at 

artificially inflated prices and a presumption of reliance applies. 

49. A Class-wide presumption of reliance is also appropriate in this action under the 

Supreme Court’s holding in Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 

(1972), because the Class’s claims are, in large part, grounded on Defendants’ material 

misstatements and/or omissions.  Because this action involves Defendants’ failure to disclose 

material adverse information regarding the Company’s business operations and financial 

prospects—information that Defendants were obligated to disclose—positive proof of reliance is 

not a prerequisite to recovery.  All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be material in the 

sense that a reasonable investor might have considered them important in making investment 

decisions.  Given the importance of the Class Period material misstatements and omissions set 

forth above, that requirement is satisfied here.   

NO SAFE HARBOR 

50. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain 

circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this Complaint. 

The statements alleged to be false and misleading herein all relate to then-existing facts and 

conditions. In addition, to the extent certain of the statements alleged to be false may be 

characterized as forward looking, they were not identified as “forward-looking statements” when 

made and there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that 

could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking 

statements. In the alternative, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor is determined to apply to 

any forward-looking statements pleaded herein, Defendants are liable for those false forward-

looking statements because at the time each of those forward-looking statements was made, the 

speaker had actual knowledge that the forward-looking statement was materially false or 

misleading, and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized or approved by an executive 

officer of HIIQ who knew that the statement was false when made. 
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FIRST CLAIM 

Violation of Section 10(b) of The Exchange Act and  

Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder  

Against All Defendants 

 

51. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein.  

52. During the Class Period, Defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of 

conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing 

public, including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (ii) cause Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class to purchase HIIQ’s securities at artificially inflated prices.  In 

furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, Defendants, and each 

defendant, took the actions set forth herein. 

53. Defendants (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (ii) made 

untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the 

statements not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which 

operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to 

maintain artificially high market prices for HIIQ’s securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.  All Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the 

wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below.   

54. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means 

or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a 

continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about HIIQ’s financial 

well-being and prospects, as specified herein.   

55. Defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, while in 

possession of material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a 

course of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of HIIQ’s value and 

performance and continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or the 

participation in the making of, untrue statements of material facts and/or omitting to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made about HIIQ and its business 
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operations and future prospects in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading, as set forth more particularly herein, and engaged in transactions, practices and a 

course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s 

securities during the Class Period.  

56. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability and controlling person 

liability arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level executives 

and/or directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the Company’s 

management team or had control thereof; (ii) each of these defendants, by virtue of their 

responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company, was privy to and 

participated in the creation, development and reporting of the Company’s internal budgets, plans, 

projections and/or reports; (iii) each of these defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and 

familiarity with the other defendants and was advised of, and had access to, other members of the 

Company’s management team, internal reports and other data and information about the 

Company’s finances, operations, and sales at all relevant times; and (iv) each of these defendants 

was aware of the Company’s dissemination of information to the investing public which they 

knew and/or recklessly disregarded was materially false and misleading.  

57. Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions of 

material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to 

ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such 

defendants’ material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly and 

for the purpose and effect of concealing HIIQ’s financial well-being and prospects from the 

investing public and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities.  As demonstrated 

by Defendants’ overstatements and/or misstatements of the Company’s business, operations, 

financial well-being, and prospects throughout the Class Period, Defendants, if they did not have 

actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions alleged, were reckless in failing to 

obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those steps necessary to discover 

whether those statements were false or misleading.  

58. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and/or misleading 
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information and/or failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of 

HIIQ’s securities was artificially inflated during the Class Period.  In ignorance of the fact that 

market prices of the Company’s securities were artificially inflated, and relying directly or 

indirectly on the false and misleading statements made by Defendants, or upon the integrity of 

the market in which the securities trades, and/or in the absence of material adverse information 

that was known to or recklessly disregarded by Defendants, but not disclosed in public 

statements by Defendants during the Class Period, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class 

acquired HIIQ’s securities during the Class Period at artificially high prices and were damaged 

thereby. 

59. At the time of said misrepresentations and/or omissions, Plaintiff and other 

members of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true.  Had Plaintiff 

and the other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding the problems 

that HIIQ was experiencing, which were not disclosed by Defendants, Plaintiff and other 

members of the Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their HIIQ securities, or, 

if they had acquired such securities during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the 

artificially inflated prices which they paid. 

60. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange 

Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  

61. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and 

the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases 

and sales of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.  

SECOND CLAIM 

Violation of Section 20(a) of The Exchange Act  

Against the Individual Defendants 

 

62. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein.  

63. Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of HIIQ within the meaning of 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their high-level positions and 

their ownership and contractual rights, participation in, and/or awareness of the Company’s 

La
w O

ffic
es

 of
 H

ow
ard

 G
. S

mith



 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

34 

operations and intimate knowledge of the false financial statements filed by the Company with 

the SEC and disseminated to the investing public, Individual Defendants had the power to 

influence and control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of 

the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements which Plaintiff 

contends are false and misleading. Individual Defendants were provided with or had unlimited 

access to copies of the Company’s reports, press releases, public filings, and other statements 

alleged by Plaintiff to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued 

and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be 

corrected.  

64. In particular, Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the 

day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, had the power to control or influence the 

particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged herein, and exercised the 

same. 

65. As set forth above, HIIQ and Individual Defendants each violated Section 10(b) 

and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint. By virtue of their 

position as controlling persons, Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of the 

Company’s securities during the Class Period.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows: 

(a) Determining that this action is a proper class action under Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure; 

(b) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class 

members against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

(c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and  
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(d) Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

Dated:  _______, 2017 GLANCY PRONGAY & MURRAY LLP 

By:   Draft    

 

Lionel Z. Glancy 

Robert V. Prongay    

Lesley F. Portnoy 

Charles H. Linehan 

1925 Century Park East, Suite 2100 

Los Angeles, CA 90067 

Telephone: (310) 201-9150 

Facsimile: (310) 201-9160 

 

LAW OFFICES OF HOWARD G. SMITH 
Howard G. Smith 

3070 Bristol Pike, Suite 112 

Bensalem, PA 19020 

Telephone: (215) 638-4847 

Facsimile: (215) 638-4867 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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